# FILED

JUL 28 2014

HEATHER L. SMITH

#### No. 14-111418-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

## DAN E. TURNER AND PHILLIP L. TURNER APPELLANTS

VS.

## QUALITY CONTRACTORS, LLC et al APPELLEES

## BRIEF OF APPELLANTS DAN E. TURNER AND PHILLIP L. TURNER

Appeal from District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas The Honorable Franklin Theis, Jr. District Court Case No. 07-C-919

> Dan E. Turner #6300 Phillip L. Turner #12577 801 S. W. Western Avenue Topeka, Kansas 66606-1446 (785) 357-6541 Attorneys for Appellants

> > **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

## **

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

The first appeal was dismissed as being premature because of the outstanding issue of the money held by the Turner's in their trust account. (R.O.A. Vol.19, pg. 2460) The Turners asserted an attorneys lien on the proceeds to cover their expenses and attorney fees for the recovery of the money which they held .(R.O.A. Vol. 22, pg. 1). The district court determined the turners were not entitled to the recovery of any attorney fees because there was not a recovery based upon the district court's prior findings of a valid sale. The district court also denied the Turner's the recovery of their expenses. (R.O.A. Vol.19, pg. 2468. 2477 and 2489)

This case involves the attempt of the Defendants to manipulate the purchase of real estate owned by Jordan Patterson American Legion Post #319, the first Black American Legion Post in the United States by Quality Contractors, LLC, through its President, Jerry Pritchard. Pritchard, with the help of Verdell Bugg. Jordan Patterson Post #319 was the first Black American Legion Post and was built on property that contains the historical caves of the Underground Railroad used by black slaves escaping from the slave States prior to the Civil War. While the property had never been placed on the historical register, its historical significance plays into the Black History of the City of Topeka and the Brown vs. Board of Education Historical School which is located a short distance away.

The factual testimony of the parties involved in the dispute between Jordan Patterson and the Defendants clearly shows the attempted manipulation by Pritchard and Bugg to purchase the Post. Commander of the Post, Willie Jackson was removed in November 2005. Mr. Bugg replaced Mr. Jackson with James Anderson, who was basically illiterate and may have been incompetent, and who resided in one of Mr. Jackson's rental properties, for \$50.00 per month at

-1-

the time. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257, Undisputed Statement of Anderson #12 & #13)

The record also established that all the meetings to remove Mr. Jackson and to replace Mr. Jackson as Commander with James Anderson took place in Mr. Bugg's drinking establishment known as Tewzenuff and located at 1465 SE Washington, Topeka, Kansas. The record also established that the written contract was signed at Mr. Bugg's drinking establishment. (R.O.A. Vol. 13, pg. 1257, Undisputed Fact of Bugg #26)

None of the Defendants dispute the fact that immediately after the removal of Jackson as Commander that Anderson brought a proposal to sell the Post at a regularly scheduled meeting, without notification to the members of Legion either verbally or in writing, brought before the members attending a proposal to sell the American Legion Post #319. This meeting took place on December 6, 2005, and by voice vote allegedly approved the sale by those attending.

After the meeting of December 6, 2005, Henry Holly, III the Adjutant elected at the October meeting wrote a letter dated December 21, 2005 rejecting the sale of the Post at 811 SE 15<sup>th</sup>, Topeka, Kansas. He stated that until the developer can meet with the membership on the first regular meeting night of the new year, which would be January 10, 2006, at Euclid Masonic Lodge Hall, 410 SE Arter, Topeka, Kansas, that as Adjutant he was suspending any attempted sale of the Post. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257, Exhibit A) The record and evidence clearly establishes no such meeting took place.

The record of testimony of James Anderson establishes without a doubt that Mr. Anderson was functionally illiterate and that any correspondence in his name was prepared for his signature by others. After the letter of Henry Holly, III, Adjutant, of December 21, 2005, James Anderson, Commander attempted to remove Henry Holly, III as the Adjutant. (R.O.A.

-2-

Vol. 13 pg.1257 Letter of James Anderson, Commander, dated December 29, 2005 Exhibit B)

After receiving James Anderson, Commander's letter, Adjutant Henry Holly, III inquired of the State American Legion located at 1314 SW Topeka Blvd, Topeka, Kansas as to the authority of Mr. James Anderson, Commander of Post #319 in removing him as the Post Adjutant of Jordan Patterson American Legion Post #319. In a letter dated January 5, 2006, Charles M. Yunker, Adjutant American Legion Department of Kansas wrote a response to Adjutant Henry Holly, III, dated January 5, 2006, stating that <u>Mr. Anderson did not have the</u> <u>authority to remove him and stated unequivocally in the second paragraph of his letter "therefore</u> <u>you are and remain the elected Adjutant of Jordan Patterson Post #319, Topeka, Kansas."</u>

He further responded to the question of the sale of the Post on December 6, 2005, by stating,

"as per the question regarding the sale of the Post Home; every member whose dues are paid and current has a vested interest in the Post Home. Therefore the officers, especially the Post Commander and Adjutant, have a legal and moral obligation to notify all members in writing that a vote will be taken whether or not to sell the Post Home or other real estate. The standard time frame for such notices is 30 days in advance of the vote whether or not to sell; further the notice should at a minimum include the evaluation of the property in question, the projected selling price (or the amount offered by the prospective buyer), and an explanation why selling the Post Home should be considered. In addition, the Post should present a plan outlining the future plans for the Post itself and what the proceeds of any such sale would be used for in the future. Without such a notification vote by the general membership a Post Home and other real estate cannot be sold because every member is entitled to the basic principles of equal protection and due process."

(R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257, Exhibit F)

In spite of the letter of January 5, 2006, by the Adjutant of the State American Legion and

objection of the elected Adjutant, Henry Holly, III, Anderson attempted to execute a real estate

contract dated January 5, 2006 at Mr. Buggs bar. The contract does not have the signature of the

Adjutant as required by the State and Local by-laws. On January 25, 2006, Post Adjutant Henry

Holly, III, notified Mr. Pritchard by letter that the sale was null and void. His letter stated:

"Enclosed you will find what we are lead to believe by Mr. Bugg is a copy of your contract delivered by you to select members and not through the mail. Wherein a special meeting, void of total membership awareness an elect members of the executive board. Therefore let the record so show this contract you sent through your currier (Mr. Bugg's and possibly other falsely influenced by the malicious rumors, is null and void.) Wherein Mr. Bugg's and possibly others were deceived by your threats Mr. Pritchard is in this collusion. "

By a notice of January 25, 2006, letter, the contract of January 5, 2006, was deemed null and

void. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257, Exhibit G).

In an attempt to ratify the contract a forged letter dated January 27, 2006 was sent to all

current members of Jordan Patterson American Legion #319 stating that they had a legal and

binding contract signed by the representatives of the Post. In his letter on page 2, it was stated

"1. The contract agreement is legal and binding.

2. Post #319 has no charter corporation status with the State of Kansas;

3. the buyer has a right to file legal action (lawsuit) against Post #319 and all of its members, if the contract is resented; and

4. <u>All Post #319</u> members are personally liable to pay any money awarded buyer."

These statements were false, knew to be false by Mr. Anderson when made for the

specific intent to threaten and influence members into believing that if they did not vote yes they

would be personally liable for money damages to Mr. Pritchard. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257,

Exhibit H).

The attempt to legalize the illegal sale of the Post by sending out a ballot to the members

established in a regular meeting to cast the vote on February 18, 2006, at 2:00 p.m. at 410 SE

Arter, (Masonic Lodge) violated the rules of the Post because the Adjutant is responsible for all

such notifications. The letter further violated the requirements set out in the State Adjutant's letter to Adjutant Holly dated January 5, 2006, in that the notice did not give a 30-days notice for the vote date, did not disclose an appraised value for the property, and did not establish the ballots were sent to each dues paying member nor when the ballots were counted there was not a written roster of those who voted and whether the vote cast either yes or no. Mailed ballots were required to be returned to Mr. Anderson Private Post Office Box without accountability to the American Legion Post. By the very nature of the letter of January 27, 2006, with statements intended to intimidate the members to vote yes to confirm the illegal sale of the Legion property on the 5<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2006, said sale would be void.

Members of Jordan Patterson Post #319 obtained an opinion from Sterling S. Waggoner, Waggoner, Arterburn & Standiferd, dated March 28, 2006, concerning the validity of the sale. On March 28, 2006, Sterling Waggoner wrote Tom R. Barnes, Attorney at Law, at 2887 SW MacVicar, Topeka, Kansas 66611, attorney for Quality Contractors, notifying the Buyer that the sale was considered improper and that the members did not want to sell the property in question. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257, exhibit J)

Eelection of new officers were held and Kenneth Hill was nominated and approved as the Post Commander in May of 2006 pursuant to notice sent out by the Adjutant of the Post to the membership. There is no known response from Tom Barnes to Sterling Waggoner inquiring; however on May 23, 2006, Stephen D. Latterman claiming to represent Quality Contractors responded to Mr. Waggoner's letter on May 23, 2006. On June 22, 2006, Sterling S. Waggoner, Attorney for the American Legion responded to Mr. Latterman's letter filing his objection to any further attempt to sell the property as requested in Mr. Latterman's letter. (R.O.A. Vol. 13

-5-

pg.1257, Exhibit 31H)

Despite the objection to the sale, sent by Sterling Waggoner in his letter of June 22, 2006 Quality Contractors attempt to close the sale on August 11, 2006 at Capital Title and Insurance Company and Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company. All correspondence from Sterling Waggoner was sent to Capital Title Insurance Company and Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company prior to the closing placing them on notice that the Post membership objected to the sale and that the sale was not valid. As part of the sales process an indemnity agreement was signed by Quality Contractors to indemnify Capital Title Insurance Company and Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company if it was determined that James Anderson did not have the authority to execute the warranty deed. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg.1257 See exhibit 311). No one corresponded or advised Mr. Waggoner of the alleged closing despite the fact that his letter stated specifically that James Anderson was a former Commander and all correspondence should be directed to Mr. Waggoner's office.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review for issues decided by summary judgment has been set forth by the Kansas Supreme Court in *Nungesser v. Bryant*, 283 Kan. 550 (2007)

'Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact. In order to preclude summary judgment, the facts subject to the dispute must be material to the conclusive issues in the case. On appeal, we apply the same rules and where we find reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied.' [Citation omitted.]" *State ex rel. Stovall v. Reliance Ins. Co.*, 278 Kan. 777, 788, 107 P.3d 1219 (2005).

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

## 1. There was no Authorized Contract to Sell the Real Property

- A. The Written Contract Expired
- B. The Written Contract was Never Properly Approved
- C. Failure to Prove Sufficient Consideration
- 2. Actual or Apparent Authority
- 3. Competency and Duress
- 4. Affidavit of James Anderson
- 5. The Turners are entitled to their attorney fees and expenses

#### **ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES**

This appeal arises out of the lower court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the Defendants. (R.O.A. Vol. 18, pg. 2337) Jordan Patterson sought reconsideration which was also denied. (R.O.A. Vol. 18 pg. 2404) The lower court then entered its journal entry of judgment disposing of all remaining issues. (R.O.A. Vol. 18 pg. 2433) Jordan Patterson filed an appeal. (R.O.A. Vol. 18 pg. 2443) which was dismissed as premature. (R.O.A. Vol. 19, pg. 2460) The Turners on remand asserted their attorney's lien for attorney fees and expenses. (R.O.A. Vol. 22, pg. 1) The district court determined the sale was valid and therefore the Turners were not entitled to any attorney fees or expenses. (R.O.A. Vol.19, pg. 2468. 2477 and 2489) The Turners have standing to assert these issues.

#### 1. There was no Authorized Contract to Sell the Real Property

Jordan Patterson's attorney on June 22, 2006 sent a letter to counsel for the Buyer Defendant Qaulity Contractors LLC. A copy of this letter was provided to Defendant Capital Title Insurance. The letter contained a number of material statement of facts. It is noted that James Anderson was the former commander of the Post. Second James Anderson was present on March 14, 2006 when the Post authorized Mr. Waggener and his firm to represent the Post with only one member voting no. The vote to sell the real property was not taken at a duly noticed meeting of Jordan Patteron's but was rather through the mail with the votes being sent to Commander Anderson's post office box contrary to the bylaws of Jordan Patterson. It was further noted that the written contract had the incorrect name as the seller and the problem that no money was to be paid other than \$1. It was also noted that the closing was extended without authorization by thirty days. Finally, there was no attempt to close the real property during the unauthorized extension to close. Counsel for Jordan Patterson then asked for the production of any proof that the State Legion had in fact found the sale to be valid. No proof was ever sent in regard to this letter nor was any ever produced during this litigation by the Defendants other than the letter of January 5, 2006 from State Adjutant Yunkers which supports the position of Jordan Patterson. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg. 1257, Exhibit 31H).

The Kansas Supreme Court set forth in the case of *Osterhaus v. Toth*, 291 Kan. 759 (2011) the standard to be used concerning a written contract.

The legal effect of a written instrument is a question of law. It may be construed and its legal effect determined by the appellate court regardless of the construction made by the district court. *Foundation Property Investments v. CTP*, 286 Kan. 597, Syl. 2, 186 P.3d 766 (2008). The primary rule for interpreting written contracts is to ascertain the parties' intent. If the terms of the contract are clear, the intent of the parties is to be determined from the language of the contract without applying rules of construction. *Anderson v. Dillard's, Inc.,* 283 Kan. 432, 436, 153 P.3d 550 (2007); see *National Bank of Andover v. Kansas Bankers Surety Co.,* 290 Kan. 247, Syl., 225 P.3d 707 (2010).

#### A. The Written Contract Expired

Assuming the written contract to sell the real property was in fact properly approved and ratified by the members of Jordan Patterson, which is specifically disputed, the written contract expired by its own terms before the August 11, 2006 alleged closing. The original date for closing was April 15, 2006. (R.O.A. Vol. 13, pg. 1257, Bugg Exhibit #2) This written contract then was allegedly amended at some point in time by extending the closing date by 30 days. The alleged Amendment was then altered at some point in time to reflect that closing was extended for 60 days. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg. 1257, Bugg Exhibit #2) Again the Amendment was never submitted nor approved by the members of Jordan Patterson. This would have set the closing on the written contract to take place on or before May 15, 2006. The written contract expired by its own terms on May 15, 2006 by the failure to close.

This material fact was noted to the Defendant Quality Contractors LLC on June 22, 2006 which also stated that Jordan Patterson did not wish to proceed forward with the alleged sale. The lower court completely disregarded these material facts to which a jury could find that the written contract had expired and had been terminated by Jordan Patterson.

## B. The Written Contract was Never Properly Approved

The Kansas Supreme Court in the case of *Gospel Tabernacle Body of Christ Church v*. *Peace Publisher & Co.*, 211 Kan. 420 (1973) discussed the requirement that when a church body transfers real property that it must be after approval of the members of the congregation. Jordan

-9-

Patterson believes that the same rationale should apply in this case.

In *Glader v. Schwinge*, 336 Ill. 551, 168 N. E. 658 (1929), the court distinguished a deed to trustees for the benefit of a church society and a deed to trustees for the general body of any church denomination for the purpose of promoting a particular religious principle or doctrine of faith. The court said: "... Where a deed to trustees for the benefit of a church society contains no express declaration of trust for the general body of any church denomination or for the teaching or practice of any particular religious principles or doctrines of faith, the right to the possession, control and use of the property is solely in the members of the church society...." (p. 557.)

The alleged first vote of December 6, 2005 was a red hearing and is of no value because James Anderson even admitted there was no vote on December 6, 2005 and that the only thing that was agreed to on December 6, 2005 was to enter into negotiations. (R.O.A. Vol. 13, pg. 1257, Undisputed Statements of James Anderson #41 and #42.) The only real issue Defendants Pritchard, Qaulity Contractors, LLC Capital Title Insurance Co LC, Deanna Zimmerman and Verdell Bugg and James Anderson have arises out of the validity of the second vote.

In order to sell Jordan Patterson's real property the Post was required to submit to Adjutant Henry Holley a resolution to authorize the sale of the Post real property and request a notice of sale and request for a ballot to be held to vote on the sale. (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg. 1257, Exhibit 17 Duties and of Adjutant and Article VII Section 2(a). Undisputed Statements of Adjutant Henry Holley #6, #25, #26 and #40.) At a minimum there must be as documented by State Adjutant Charles Yunker letter advising Adjutant Henry Holley of January 5, 2006 that "as for your questions regarding the selling of the Post Home; every member whose dues are paid and current has a vested interest in the Post Home. Therefore, the officers, especially the post Commander and Adjutant,. Have a legal and moral obligation to notify all members in writing a vote will be taken whether or not to sell the Post Home or other real estate. The standard time frame for such notice is 30 days in advance of the vote whether or not to sell; further the notice should at a minimum include valuation of the property in question, the projected selling price (or the amount offered by the prospective buyer), and an explanation why selling the Post Home should be considered. In addition the Post should present a plan outlining the future plans for the Post itself and what the proceeds of any such sale would be used for in the future. Without such a notification and vote by the general membership a Post Home and other real estate cannot be sold because every member is entitled to the basic principals of equal protection and due process.". (R.O.A. Vol. 13 pg. 1257, Undisputed Statements of Ervin Jones #20, #21. The Defendants appear to be asserting that these are not valid requirements but no contrary authority has been given disputing the State Adjutant Yunker's letter. Given the standards for summary judgment the lower court erred in not finding that these were in fact the requirements to sell the real property.

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