DEC 0 2 2014

NO. 14-111418-A

HEATHER L. SMITH CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

JORDAN PATTERSON AMERICAN LEGION POST #319 (DAN E. TURNER AND PHILLIP L. TURNER) Plaintiff/Appellant,

CHARLES YUNKER, ADJUTANT, AMERICAN LEGION KANSAS DEPARTMENT Intervenor/Appelle,

VS.

QUALITY CONTRACTORS, LLC; JERRY PRITCHARD;
JAMES R. ANDERSON; VERDELL BUGG;
CAPITAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, LC; DEANNA M. ZIMMERMAN
15TH STREET INVESTMENTS, LLC; and COMMERCE BANK & TRUST COMPANY
n/k/a COREFIRST BANK & TRUST
Defendants/Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES 15TH STREET INVESTMENTS, LLC and COMMERCE BANK & TRUST COMPANY n/k/a COREFIRST BANK & TRUST

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

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I. The Turners Lack Standing to Appeal.

A. Standard Of Review

The existence of standing and jurisdiction are both questions of law over which appellate courts exercise *de novo* review. *Bd. of Sumner County Comm'rs v. Bremby*, 286 Kan. 745, 751, 198 P.3d 494 (2008); *Mid Continent Specialists, Inc. v. Capital Homes, L.C.*, 279 Kan.

178, 185, 106 P.3d 483 (2005). To the extent that review of these issues require statutory interpretation, appellate review is also unlimited. *Double M Construction, Inc. v. Kansas Corporation Commission*, 288 Kan. 268, 271, 202 P.3d 7 (2009).

B. Arguments And Authorities

1. The Turners Have No Standing To Bring This Appeal.

This appeal arises out of a Notice of Appeal that was filed with the Shawnee County, Kansas District Court on February 26, 2014. (R. XIX, pp. 2507-08.) The Notice of Appeal states: "Comes now, Dan E. Turner and Philip L. Turner of Turner & Turner and files this Notice of Appeal . . ." Additionally, the signature of the Turners on the Notice of Appeal is not done in a representative capacity of any party. The signature block does not identify the Turners as lawyers for any of the parties. Accordingly, the Turners signed the Notice of Appeal on their own behalf individually, and not on the behalf of any party to the lawsuit. The Turners admitted in their Response and Objection for Involuntary Dismissal that they filed in this second appeal that they have submitted this second appeal on their own behalf, and not in representation of Post #319. (See, the Turners' Response and Objection for Involuntary Dismissal, Kansas Appellate Case No. 14-111418-A, ¶¶11 and 13).

K.S.A. 60-2103(a) requires a Notice of Appeal to be filed to properly perfect an appeal to this Court. *See*, K.S.A. 60-2103. If a Notice of Appeal is defective under K.S.A. 60-2103, the appeal must be dismissed. *See*, *Gates v. Goodyear*, 37 Kan.App.2d 623, 626-28, 155 P.3d 1196, 1198-99 (2007). K.S.A. 60-2103(a) provides the following: "A *party* may appeal from a judgment by filing with the clerk of the district court a notice of appeal." K.S.A. 60-2103(a) (emphasis added). Additionally, K.S.A. 60-2103(b) provides that a "notice of appeal shall specify the *parties* taking the appeal." K.S.A. 60-2103(b) (emphasis added).

Here, the Notice of Appeal that was filed to trigger this appeal was not filed by a "party." Rather, the Notice of Appeal was filed on behalf of Dan E. Turner and Philip L. Turner, individually. However, the Turners are not parties to this lawsuit, and have no standing to appeal. While, at one time, the Turners represented the Plaintiff in this case, Post #319, the Notice of Appeal does not state that the appeal is being brought on behalf of Post #319. Rather, the Notice of Appeal is clear that it is being brought on behalf of Dan E. Turner and Philip L. Turner, individually.

The fact that the Turners submitted the present Notice of Appeal on their own behalf, rather than on behalf of any party, is bolstered by an examination of the Notice of Appeal they filed for the previous appeal in this lawsuit. In that previous Notice of Appeal, the Notice of Appeal specifically stated that it was being brought on behalf of "Jordan Patterson American Legion Post #319," and the signature block for the Turners stated that they were "attorneys for Plaintiff." (R. XVIII, p. 2443). If it was the intent of the Turners to submit the present Notice of Appeal on behalf of Post #319, they would have expressly indicated as such in the Notice of Appeal, as they did previously. Additionally, the Brief of Appellants in this matter states that it is the "Brief of Appellants Dan E. Turner and Philip L. Turner." Furthermore, in the same manner as the Notice of Appeal, the Brief of Appellants is signed by the Turners on behalf of themselves, and does not state that it is submitted in a representative capacity. This further confirms that the Turners are not representing a party in bringing this appeal.

Finally, it is important to note that the Turners no longer have a party to represent in this matter. On the first appeal of this matter, the Court noted that the American Legion Kansas Department had filed a Motion to Intervene in the lawsuit, and that the Kansas Department has suspended the charter of Post #319. As a result, this Court asked the District

Court on remand to determine whether Post #319 was ever properly a Plaintiff or, even if it was a proper Plaintiff at one time, whether it ceased to be a proper Plaintiff when the Kansas Department suspended its charter." Jordan Patterson American Legion Post #319 v. Quality Contractors, L.L.C., 2012 WL 145049, * 3, No. 105,886 (Kan. Ct. App. April 20, 2012). Subsequent to that decision of this Court, neither Post #319 nor the Turners have provided any additional information or evidence to show that they had authority to file the present lawsuit on behalf of the Post. Additionally, on remand, the District Court held that no facts were proffered post-appeal to suggest that Post #319 had proper standing, or for that matter, to impeach its standing at any point afterwards, except for the evidence relating to the fact that the Post had dissolved and been absorbed by the American Legion Kansas Department. Accordingly, the District Court concluded that standing now resides with the American Legion Kansas Department, which has clearly assumed ownership of the proceeds from the sale of the Subject Property. (R. XVII, p. 2505.) The "Brief of Appellants Dan E. Turner and Philip L. Turner" filed by the Turners in the present appeal does not dispute those findings by the District Court, and provides no additional information or evidence to reverse the District Court's decision in that regard. Thus, the Turners have waived that issue, and the District Court's holding that standing now resides with the American Legion Kansas Department must stand as final. See, Bd. of Lincoln County Comm'rs v. Nielander, 275 Kan. 257, 268, 62 P.3d 247 (2003).

The Notice of Appeal filed by the Turners was defective, as it was not filed by a party as required by K.S.A. 60-2103(a), and this appeal should be dismissed. Furthermore, the Turners have no standing in this case, as the District Court found that the American Legion Kansas Department stepped into the shoes of Post #319, replacing any standing Post #319 had in this case.

2. If The Turners Have Standing, The Issues Before This Court Are Limited.

If the Court concludes that the Turners do have any standing in this appeal, that standing should be very limited. The District Court concluded on remand that standing now resides with the American Legion Kansas Department. The Turners have not appealed that issue. Accordingly, any standing that the Turners have on this appeal should be limited to whether or not they have a valid attorney's fee lien or claim to the \$120,000.00 proceeds from the sale of the Subject Property. The Turners have no standing to appeal any other issue, including whether or not the sale of the Subject Property was valid. Accordingly, whether or not the Real Estate Contract and closing of the sale of the Subject Property was valid or authorized, for purposes of quieting title in favor of Post #319 or invalidating that sale, is not properly before the Court on this appeal.

II. The Kansas Ultra Vires Statute (K.S.A. 17-6104) Bars Post #319's Claims Against 15th Street Investments, LLC And Commerce Bank & Trust Company n/k/a CoreFirst Bank & Trust.

A. Standard Of Review

The question of statutory interpretation is a question of law that is subject to unlimited review. *143rd Street Investors, L.L.C. v. Bd. of County Comm'rs*, 292 Kan. 690, 698, 259 P.3d 644 (2011). Well known principles of statutory interpretation apply. When reviewing courts are called upon to interpret a statute, they first attempt to give effect to the intent of the Legislature as expressed through the language enacted. *Id.* When a statute is plain and unambiguous, they do not speculate as to the legislative intent behind it and will not read the statute to add something not readily found in it. *Id.* They need not resort to statutory construction. *Id.* It is only if the statute's language or text is unclear or ambiguous that they

move to the next analytical step, applying canons of construction or relying on legislative history construing the statute to effect the legislature's intent. *Id*.

B. Arguments And Authorities

The Kansas ultra vires statute, found at K.S.A. 17-6104, provides the following: "No act of a corporation and no conveyance or transfer of real . . . property . . . by a corporation shall be invalid by reason of the fact that the corporation was without capacity or power to do such act or to make or receive such conveyance or transfer . . . " K.S.A. 17-6104 provides that claims alleging an invalid transfer of real property by a corporation without capacity or power to do so can only be brought in a proceeding by a stockholder against the corporation, in a proceeding by the corporation against an incumbent or former officer, or in a proceeding brought by the Attorney General. *See*, K.S.A. 17-6104(a)-(c). In this lawsuit, Post #319 has alleged that the sale of the Subject Property through the Real Estate Contract was invalid due to lack of capacity or power by the Post #319 officials involved. However, under K.S.A. 17-6104, such claims cannot be brought against third parties like 15th Street Investments, LLC and Commerce Bank & Trust Company n/k/a CoreFirst Bank & Trust ("CoreFirst"). Accordingly, 15th Street Investments, LLC and CoreFirst are not appropriate parties to this lawsuit, and the District Court's holding in favor of those Defendants in this case should be affirmed.

III. 15th Street Investments, LLC And Commerce Bank & Trust Company n/k/a CoreFirst Bank & Trust Are Innocent Purchasers Of The Subject Property.

A. Standard of Review

"When determining a question of law, this Court may exercise unlimited *de novo* standard of review." *Wilson v. Williams*, 261 Kan. 703, 705, 933 P.2d. 757 (1997).

B. Arguments and Authorities

Subject Property and therefore, are entitled to protection as innocent purchasers regardless of whether the Real Estate Contract was properly authorized. *See, Bicknell v. Jones,* 203 Kan. 196, 453 P.2d 127 (1969); and *Jordan v. McNeil*, 25 Kan. 459 (1881). In *Bicknell*, the purchaser of the real estate at issue in that case fraudulently induced the owner to deed the real property to him. *Bicknell*, 203 Kan. at 197-98. Subsequently, the purchaser mortgaged the property to National Bank and executed a lease of the premises to Burger Chef Systems, Inc. *Id.* at 198-99. Neither National Bank nor Burger Chef had any knowledge of the fraudulent representations. *Id.* at 199. Upon learning of the fraudulent representations, the original owner filed an action seeking, among other claims, recision of the real estate contract. *Id.* at 198. However, the Kansas Supreme Court held that National Bank and Burger Chef purchased interests in the property for value without knowledge of the alleged fraud, and therefore, the respective mortgage and lease were valid regardless of the outcome of the lawsuit. *Id.* at 203-04. In *Bicknell*, the court relied on the long established rules stated in the *Jordan* case:

"This doctrine, that a deed obtained through fraud and deceit is only voidable, and that a bona fide purchaser, for value, without notice, will hold the property, is supported by a large number of authorities It is a general principle of law, that wherever one of two innocent persons must suffer loss on account of the wrongful acts of a third, he who has enabled the third person to occasion the loss must be the person who shall suffer." *Bicknell*, 203 Kan. at 204-205 (quoting *Jordan*, 25 Kan. at 465) (citations omitted).

Here, 15th Street Investments and CoreFirst purchased and mortgaged the property, respectively, without knowledge of the alleged unauthorized Real Estate Contract and closing. As innocent purchasers, 15th Street Investments and CoreFirst should not be required to

suffer the loss of alleged fraudulent action of the Post #319 officers. Rather, consistent with the rule articulated in *Bicknell* and *McNeil*, Post #319, as the one who trusted the third party actors, Commander Anderson and his counterparts, and placed the means in the hands to commit the wrong, must bear the loss, not the innocent purchasers, 15th Street Investments and CoreFirst. As a result, 15th Street Investments and CoreFirst are not proper parties to the current lawsuit, and the District Court's holding in favor of those Defendants should be affirmed.

IV. The Real Estate Contract Was Valid.

A. Standard Of Review

The District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Defendants on Post #319's claim that the subject Real Estate Contract was not valid. Accordingly, the standard of review on this issue is as follows:

"Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court is required to resolve all facts and inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence in favor of the party against whom the ruling is sought. When opposing a motion for summary judgment, an adverse party must come forward with evidence to establish a dispute as to a material fact. In order to preclude summary judgment, the facts subject to the dispute must be material to the conclusive issues in the case. On appeal, we apply the same rules and where we find reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusions drawn from the evidence, summary judgment must be denied. [Citations omitted.]" *State, ex rel. Stovall v. Reliance Ins. Co.*, 278 Kan. 777, 788, 107 P.3d 1219 (2005).

Where there is no factual dispute, appellate review of an order regarding summary judgment is *de novo. Roy v. Young*, 278 Kan. 244, 247, 93 P.3d 712 (2004).

B. Arguments And Authorities

1. The Real Estate Contract Did Not Expire.

The Turners attempt to argue the Real Estate Contract was invalid because the closing of the contract did not take place prior to the date set in the contract. However, as noted by the District Court, the Real Estate Contract did not terminate, *ipso facto*, as a result of the late closing. (R. XVIII, pp. 2375-76.) Kansas law is clear that enforcement of the Real Estate Contract must be promptly sought upon default.

"'Though the time for the payment of the purchase money is made of the essence of the contract, a default does not ipso facto terminate the contract, but it may still be enforced against the purchaser, and therefore the vendor may himself waive the default and render the contract enforceable by the purchaser. Also if the vendor by his acts or statements leads the purchaser to believe that he will insist upon the strict terms of the contract, he will not be permitted in equity to insist that a forfeiture has occurred by reason of the payments not being made at the time agreed upon.' 27 R. C. L. 452, 453.

Counsel for appellants urge that nothing by an agreement to modify the written contract could affect the rights of the plaintiffs thereunder, and, as the court only found that negotiations were pending between them, such was not sufficient to deprive the plaintiffs of the right of forfeiture allowed by the contract. Such is not the real meaning of the rule quoted above nor of the holdings of this court. A party desiring to retain his existing right of forfeiture under a contract and not waive it must assert it promptly, and his acts and conduct in relation thereto must be unequivocal and consistent with the continuance of the contract rather than a modification thereof." *Gustason v. DeHaven*, 134 Kan. 324, 327, 5 P.2d 1095 (1931).

In this case, the facts firmly establish the delays in closing were not the result of the purchaser. Instead, Commander Anderson's illness and the unauthorized actions of a few minority members of Post #319 to oust Commander Anderson from his leadership position and challenge the sale of the Post #319 property were clearly responsible for the "delay" of the scheduled closing. More importantly, Commander Anderson appeared at the closing on behalf

of Post #319 and executed a Corporation Warranty Deed thereby, waiving any right to forfeiture under the Real Estate Contract. Accordingly, the delayed closing did not invalidate the Real Estate Contract

2. The Real Estate Contract Was Properly Authorized and Approved.

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